# COPY

## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,**

**Plaintiff and Respondent,**

**v.**

**RAMIRO GONZALES,**

**Defendant and Appellant.**

Case No. \_\_\_\_\_ **SUPREME COURT  
FILED**

**MAR - 8 2011**

Frederick K. Onirich Clerk

Deputy

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H032866  
Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 211111  
The Honorable Alfonso Fernandez, Judge

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

KAMALA D. HARRIS  
Attorney General of California  
DANE R. GILLETTE  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
GERALD A. ENGLER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
SETH K. SCHALIT  
Supervising Deputy Attorney General  
BRIDGET BILLETER

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether the testimony of a psychotherapist regarding the details of records from parole-mandated sex offender psychotherapy in sexually violent predator (SVP) proceedings violates the state psychotherapist-patient privilege?

2. If so, what harmless error standard applies to a violation of the state psychotherapist-patient privilege in an SVP proceeding?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In August 1994, appellant was convicted of lewd and lascivious conduct with a minor and sentenced to prison. (1 RT 115.) Subsequently, the state initiated an SVP proceeding. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6000 et seq.) However, a jury found appellant was not an SVP. In 2004, appellant was released on parole with conditions prohibiting him from drinking alcohol, contacting minor children, or being within 100 feet of places like parks or school where children congregate. (1 RT 78; 2 RT 381-387.) Appellant was also required to attend outpatient sex offender psychotherapy treatment, and to inform his parole agent of contacts with any minor, even if accidental. (3 RT 429, 431.)

In January 2006, appellant entered the High Risk Sex Offender Program at the Atkinson Center—due to the psychotherapy treatment condition of parole imposed by the state. (1 CT 135; 3 RT 495, 501.) At intake, the Center administered to appellant the Abel Sex Offender-Specific Questionnaire for Men, in response to which he disclosed the high number of children that he had touched sexually. (3 RT 521; 1 CT 140.) During

the psychotherapy treatment, appellant attended both individual and group counseling sessions. (3 RT 497.)

Appellant was required to wear a GPS monitoring device as of April 2006. (3 RT 462.) On August 11, the GPS monitor showed appellant had been in a park with a playground the previous day. (3 RT 481.) An alerted parole agent heard children in the background when he called appellant's home to speak to him and immediately went to the house. (3 RT 481- 482.) The agent found appellant's niece and nephew, ages two and seven, in the driveway of the home. (3 RT 483; 5 RT 874.) Appellant told the agent that he had been drinking three beers a week between June and August 2006, that he knew he was not supposed to be near a playground, that he had stopped in the park to roll a cigarette, and that he did not look at the children. (3 RT 482, 490; 4 RT 635-636.)

Appellant was arrested and returned to custody as a parole violator. In an SVP screening in late 2006 before his rerelease, Drs. Thomas MacSpeiden and Dr. Jack Vognsen diagnosed appellant as a pedophile whose condition caused impaired emotional and volitional capacity. (1 RT 133; 4 RT 488, 732-734.) Dr. MacSpeiden also diagnosed appellant as alcohol dependent with borderline intellectual functioning. (1 RT 84.) Dr. Vognsen diagnosed appellant with alcohol abuse and mild mental retardation. (1 RT 474.) The doctors found appellant likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal acts due to his disorders. (1 RT 174; 4 RT 764-765.)

Based on the evaluations, the Santa Clara County District Attorney filed a petition to commit appellant an SVP. Prior to trial, the prosecutor subpoenaed appellant's treatment records from the Atkinson Center. Appellant moved to quash the subpoena, arguing that his records were protected by the psychotherapist-patient privilege. (1 RT 3; 1 CT 114-120.) The prosecution replied that whether or not the privilege attached to the

records, the dangerous-patient exception in Evidence Code section 1024 allowed disclosure. The court agreed: “I do find that they are privileged. However, I do think they are relevant and Mr. Gonzales would fall under the dangerous patient statutory exception, and they will therefore be released given those facts.” (1 RT 11.)

At trial, Dr. Pat McAndrews, appellant’s therapist at the Atkinson Center testified regarding appellant’s therapy sessions. She stated that at his initial assessment, he admitted that he had had touched 16 different children in a sexual manner. (3 RT 521; 1 CT 140.) According to Dr. McAndrews, appellant did not tell her that his sister and her children were living at his mother’s house, and he did not tell her that he was drinking beer. (3 RT 547.) Dr. McAndrews testified that being at appellant’s mother’s house when children were there combined with drinking beer was a “recipe for a sex offense.” (3 RT 549.)

On March 25, 2008, a jury found the allegations in petition to be true. The court committed appellant to the Department of Mental Health (DMH) for an indeterminate term. (2 CT 551, 552.)

Appellant appealed. On January 27, 2011, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District, in a published opinion by Presiding Justice Rushing, held that the release of the Atkinson Center records violated appellant’s state statutory psychotherapist-patient privilege. Relying on *Story v. Superior Court* (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 1007 and *In re Pedro M.* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 550, the court determined the parole-mandated therapy records in issue—specifically, records of therapy sessions between appellant and his treating psychologist, Dr. McAndrews—were presumptively privileged and that the dangerous-patient exception did not apply. (Slip Opn. at pp. 11-13.) The court distinguished *People v. Lakey* (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 962 and *People v. Martinez* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 465 as holding only that the “psychotherapist-patient privilege does not

protect psychological records *of a previous involuntary commitment.*” (Slip Opn. at p. 15.) The court reasoned that parole-mandated therapy “is ordered to assist the defendant’s rehabilitation; and preserving confidentiality will facilitate that goal.” (Slip Opn. at p. 18.)

After finding trial error in releasing appellant’s therapy records to the state for use in an SVP commitment proceeding, the Court of Appeal held, for purposes of harmless error analysis,<sup>1</sup> that the violation of appellant’s psychotherapist-patient privilege also violated the federal Constitution for purposes of harmless error analysis. The court stated that “the United States Supreme Court and the California Supreme Court acknowledge a constitutionally protected interest in the privacy or confidentiality of highly personal information” and that the “great weight of authority . . . recognizes a federal constitutional right to informational privacy that protects medical and psychiatric records from unwarranted, unnecessary, and unjustifiable disclosure.” (Slip Opn. at p. 20.) The court ruled that appellant had a “reasonable expectation of privacy” in his psychiatric records and that, because the release of the records was not justified under the “dangerous patient” exception, the state had not demonstrated a sufficient compelling interest to outweigh that expectation of privacy. (Slip Opn. at pp. 33-34.) Having thus found the records release violated appellant’s federal constitutional rights, the court held that the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and reversed the judgment. (Slip Opn. at pp. 37-40.)

#### **REASON FOR GRANTING THE PETITION**

The Court of Appeal’s conclusion that appellant’s parole-mandated therapy records are protected by the psychotherapist-patient privilege

---

<sup>1</sup> In an earlier unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal had found state law error that was harmless under *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836. The court granted rehearing to consider the application of *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24.



misreads the statutes, ignores the goals of parole-mandated therapy, and undermines the state's compelling interest in protecting the public from dangerous sexual predators.

The Court of Appeal's ruling is perverse in another way. After the lower court's decision, it remains true that an SVP defendant with therapy records from a prior—perhaps remote—involuntary commitment may not successfully assert the psychotherapist-patient privilege to bar disclosure of the records to the state. But an SVP defendant whose therapy records resulted from a recent mandatory treatment condition imposed in the parole period coinciding with the initiation of the SVP proceedings somehow would be entitled to assert the privilege. In the latter case, the state unaccountably would be denied conceivably crucial proof that the parolee meets SVP criteria and is likely to reoffend due to a diagnosed mental disorder.

Equally worthy of review is the Court of Appeal's ruling on the standard of harmless-error review when a state law psychotherapist-patient privilege is breached. The Court of Appeal held that a violation of the statutory privilege must be tested for harmlessness under the standard for federal Constitutional error. But settled law holds that evidentiary privileges such as the psychotherapist-patient privilege are based on statute or on the common law, not the federal Constitution. The decision is further contradicted by equally-settled law that state law error, standing alone, does not establish that the defendant has been denied due process.

Both holdings of the Court of Appeal represent significant questions of law, and plenary review by this Court of each is needed.

**I. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT PAROLE-MANDATED THERAPY RECORDS ARE PRIVILEGED WITHOUT EXCEPTION IN SVP PROCEEDINGS**

The Court of Appeal found it “undisputed that defendant saw McAndrews for psychotherapy,” so that their communications were presumptively privileged. It then ruled that the goal of rehabilitation was best served by “preserving [the] confidentiality” of the records. (Slip Opn. at pp. 12, 18.) Its conclusion is contrary to statute. Evidence Code section 1012 provides that confidential communications between a patient and his psychotherapist are privileged against disclosure *except* where “disclosure is reasonably necessary for the transmission of the information or the accomplishment of the purpose for which the psychotherapist is consulted . . . .” Here, appellant’s sex offender treatment at the Atkinson Center constituted state-supervised therapy mandated by his state-imposed parole condition, so disclosure of his confidential communications to the therapist was reasonably necessary.

At issue was the monitoring of appellant’s rehabilitative progress on parole. “The parolee has been released from prison based on an evaluation that he shows reasonable promise of being able to return to society and function as a responsible, self-reliant person,” but the parolee’s commission of a crime nevertheless “justifies imposing extensive restrictions on the individual’s liberty.” (*Morrissey v. Brewer* (1972) 408 U.S. 471, 482, 483.) “Society has a stake in whatever may be the chance of restoring him to normal and useful life within the law.” (*Id.* at p. 484.) Thus, Dr. McAndrews was engaged not just to help appellant but also to ensure that he continued to function as a law-abiding individual. Access by the service provider (the state) to the therapist’s records is necessary to determine whether the parolee is meeting his conditions and successfully functioning in the community. Because the disclosure of the confidential

communications was necessary both to monitor appellant's progress on parole and to ensure public safety, the privilege did not attach to appellant's parole-mandated therapy sessions.

Similarly, when appellant's parole was revoked and the state instituted SVP proceedings based on evidence that appellant was likely to commit future crimes, releasing the treatment records was necessary to determine the extent to which the goals of parole-mandated treatment—preventing a new sexual offense and rehabilitating appellant so that he could function as a law-abiding citizen—had been accomplished. At least as important as rehabilitative monitoring is the state's interest in access to the parole-mandated therapy records themselves in order to evaluate the need for more intensive therapies and more restrictive conditions and placements, including those authorized by the court in civil commitment proceedings. The state has a compelling interest in protecting society from parolees who may not be successfully reintegrating into society and who pose a future danger of reoffending.

Thus, in *Lakey, supra*, 102 Cal.App.3d 962, the defendant, a mentally disordered sex offender (MDSO), claimed at his MDSO extension hearing that his statements made while committed to the state hospital were privileged. The appellate court rejected the claim, holding that the privilege did not attach to statements made while confined in the state hospital:

We are aware that “an environment of confidentiality of treatment is vitally important to the successful operation of psychotherapy” (*In re Lifschutz* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 415, 422 [85 Cal.Rptr. 829, 467 P.2d 557, 44 A.L.R.3d 1]), and that the effectiveness of the treatment given defendant and others similarly situated probably would be improved if complete confidentiality were accorded every statement made by a person involuntarily confined for the treatment of mental disorders.

However, we recognize that the psychotherapist/patient privilege is legislatively created and is not absolute. Defendant has been confined as an MDSO because he took the life of

another human being and is dangerous. The purpose of his confinement is not merely to treat his mental disorder, but to protect society. An important purpose of the close supervision given persons who are confined as MDSOs is to gather information through which it is possible to predict their future behavior. It seems apparent that one legislative purpose in providing psychotherapy for MDSOs is to monitor their progress so that the decision to release the MDSO from confinement may be based upon as much information as possible. We cannot find any legislative intent to exclude testimony such as that presented in this manner because of any psychotherapist/patient privilege.

We believe our decision is supported by Evidence Code section 1024 which provides as follows: “There is no privilege under this article if the psychotherapist has reasonable cause to believe that the patient is in such mental or emotional condition as to be dangerous to himself or to the person or property of another and that disclosure of the communication is necessary to prevent the threatened danger.”

The proceeding below was premised upon the belief of defendant’s psychotherapist, and the medical staff at Atascadero State Hospital, that defendant constitutes ‘a serious threat of substantial harm to the health and safety of others,’ as provided in section 6316.2. As the Supreme Court stated in *Tarasoff v. Regents of University of California* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 425, 442, “the public policy favoring protection of the confidential character of patient-psychotherapist communications must yield to the extent to which disclosure is essential to avert danger to others. The protective privilege ends where the public peril begins.”

(102 Cal.App.3d at pp. 976-977.)

Similarly, in *People v. Martinez* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 465, the Sixth District Court of Appeal, relying on *Lakey*, held that prior MDSO records were not privileged in subsequent SVP proceedings: “The SVPA protects the public from sexual predators by detaining them and providing treatment until the condition causing their disorder has abated. The determination that a disorder has abated requires a full assessment of the person’s current mental condition, including reference to treatment records and progress in

therapy.” (*Id.* at p. 484.) The court also rejected Martinez’s argument that even if the MDSO records were not privileged in the prior MDSO proceedings, they became privileged in the subsequent SVP proceedings.

Although *Lahey* involved the disclosure of defendant’s statements in an MDSO proceeding, they were admissible not because defendant had selectively waived the privilege for that proceeding but because the statements were not privileged in the first place. Defendant cites, and we have found, no authority for the proposition that a nonprivileged communication can become privileged in subsequent proceedings. Case law is to the contrary. . . .

Furthermore, we consider it counterintuitive to find that defendant’s unprivileged MDSO statements became privileged in the SVP commitment proceeding. . . . [The MDSO] proceeding and the instant SVP proceedings share the same fundamental purpose: to protect the public from those who because of their mental disorder represent a danger to others.

(88 Cal.App.4th at p. 485.)

As with parole-mandated therapy, the purpose of the SVP commitment is not only to treat appellant’s mental disorder but to protect society. In order to accurately determine whether or not a suspected SVP qualifies for commitment it is important to gather information which reflects on future dangerousness, including a patient’s “criminal and psychosexual history, type, degree, and duration of sexual deviance, and severity of mental disorder.” (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (c).)

Here, the district attorney filed a petition because two independent evaluators had concluded that appellant suffered from a diagnosed mental disorder which made it likely that he would reoffend upon release, and the trial court found probable cause to believe that appellant posed such a danger. (1 CT 70.) These findings establish “reasonable cause to believe” that appellant “is in such a mental or emotional condition as to be dangerous to himself or to the person or property of another.” (Evid. Code,

§ 1024.) Contrary to the Court of Appeal's conclusion, the records of any and all therapy sessions undertaken for the purpose of protecting society from potential reoffenders are not privileged. (See *People v. One Ruger .22 Caliber Pistol* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 310, 314-315 [Evidence Code section 1024 applies to proceedings for the seizure and forfeiture of weapons belonging to persons detained under Welfare and Institutions Code section 5150].)

The Court of Appeal purported to distinguish *Lakey* and *Martinez* on the ground that “[a] defendant who has been released on parole with a therapy condition is not comparable to a person involuntarily committed to a state institution as an MDSO or an SVP in order to protect the public and provide treatment.” (Slip Opn. at p. 16.) But, as discussed above, the purpose of the parole-mandated therapy was not only to rehabilitate appellant, but also to ensure that his release from custody did not pose a danger to the community. And, after the trial court found probable cause to believe that appellant posed a likelihood of reoffending if free in the community, disclosure of his therapeutic progress became reasonably necessary to ensure the protection of society from the danger he posed. Thus, like a patient confined to the state hospital, appellant's records were not privileged because they necessarily informed the issue of future dangerousness.

To support its distinction between state hospital confinement and parole release, the court below also cited *In re Pedro M.*, *supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th 550 and *Story v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 109 Cal.App.4th 1007. (Slip Opn. at p. 16.) Neither decision, however, involves a proceedings regarding future dangerousness. Hence, neither may be considered authority for applying Evidence Code section 1024 to parole- or probation-mandated therapy. In *Pedro M.*, the minor was placed on juvenile probation and ordered to attend sex offender therapy. The minor refused to

cooperate, and the court held a hearing to determine whether he had violated his probation. The minor's therapist testified that he had failed to comply with the treatment requirements, and on appeal, the minor contended that that testimony should have been excluded as privileged. The appellate court concluded that the evidence was properly admitted:

Quite obviously, the court's ability to evaluate appellant's compliance with this particular condition of the court's disposition order and its effect on his rehabilitation would be severely diminished in the absence of some type of feedback from the therapist, and it would be unreasonable for appellant to think otherwise. . . . Indeed, Evidence Code section 1012 itself permits the disclosure of a confidential communication between patient and psychotherapist to "those to whom disclosure is reasonably necessary for . . . the accomplishment of the purpose for which the psychotherapist is consulted . . . ." In our view, this would include the juvenile court, where the patient is a delinquent minor who has been properly directed to participate and cooperate in a sex offender treatment program in conjunction with a disposition order placing the minor on probation. Moreover, the juvenile court carefully sought to circumscribe [the therapist's] testimony "so that the details of the therapeutic session [would] not [be] disclosed." . . . Under the circumstances, therefore, we hold that the psychotherapist-patient privilege did not preclude [the therapist] from testifying at the adjudication of the supplemental petition concerning appellant's participation and progress in the court-ordered treatment plan.

(81 Cal.App.4th at pp. 554-555.)

The *Pedro M.* proceeding involved whether the minor had violated probation, not whether he posed a future danger. Details of the therapeutic sessions were not relevant to the probation violation issue, and thus disclosure of those details was not "reasonably necessary" in *Pedro M.* Here, appellant's therapy sessions were "reasonably necessary" to accomplish the purpose of the original parole-mandated treatment—the protection of society from reoffense.

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