## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF | )       | No. S191240                     |
|----------------------------|---------|---------------------------------|
| CALIFORNIA,                | )       | Court of Appeal No.             |
| •                          | )       | H032866                         |
| Plaintiff and Respondent   | )       | Santa Clara County              |
| •                          | )       | Superior Court No.              |
|                            | )       | 211111 SUPREME COURT            |
| v.                         | )       | FILED                           |

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant Ramiro Gonzales respectfully answers and opposes the petition for review filed by the Attorney General on March 8, 2011.

The Attorney General contends that review is necessary because the Court of Appeal concluded that parole-mandated therapy records are privileged "without exception" in SVP proceedings, but this is not correct. Instead, the Court of Appeal held that there was insufficient evidence to support application of a specific exception to a privilege in this case, and that under the circumstances, the trial court abused its discretion in allowing blanket discovery and privileged information into evidence. (Opn. at p. 13.)

The Attorney also contends that review is necessary because the Court of Appeal found a violation of the federal constitutional right of informational privacy and applied the standard of prejudice enunciated in *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18. However, the Court of Appeal's finding was well-founded and it should not be disturbed.

#### FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Appellant Ramiro Gonzales was born in 1955, and at the age of seven he contracted spinal meningitis which resulted in intellectual and developmental disabilities. (Opn. at p. 2.) Mr. Gonzales's history included two offenses which qualified as predicate offenses under Welfare and Institutions Code<sup>1</sup> section 6600, subd. (b).<sup>2</sup> When he was about to be released on parole in 2004, the District Attorney filed a petition to commit Mr. Gonzales under section 6600, but the jury found the allegations in the petition not true. (Opn. at p. 3.)

Mr. Gonzales was released and one of his parole conditions was to participate in an outpatient treatment program. (1 Opn. at p. 3.) Pat Potter McAndrews had a master's degree and worked under the supervision of a psychologist as a therapist at the Atkinson Assessment Center where Mr. Gonzales was referred for treatment. (3 RT 492-493.)<sup>3</sup> As part of their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>All statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise indicated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In 1977, appellant was convicted of molesting a seven-year-old girl and in 1994, he was convicted of molesting a four-year-old girl. (Opn. At pp. 2-3.) In 1975, appellant was also convicted of a misdemeanor for annoying or molesting a child. (Opn. at p. 2.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For reasons that are not clear, the Attorney General refers to Ms. McAndrews as a doctor. (Petition for Review at p. 3.)

initial interview, Ms. McAndrews noted that appellant appeared to be someone whose intellectual abilities were limited and she had some concerns that this might pose a problem in treatment. (3 RT 505.)

However, once enrolled, appellant participated regularly. (3 RT 511-512.)

Ms. McAndrews described her relationship with appellant as a therapeutic one and defined it as "one where the client and you have a relationship where you're building toward trust where you're hoping you will get accurate information. they can interact with you in a meaningful way. In other words, the personalities are compatible, and there's a sense that you work together as a team to do the therapy process." (3 RT 521-522.)

In the context of this relationship, Ms. McAndrews administered an Abel Assessment test. (3 RT 513, 521-522, 527, 550.) The test involved numerous questions and although it was not standard procedure, Ms. McAndrews filled out the answers because she suspected that Mr. Gonzales might not have been able to do so. (3 RT 536, 4 RT 598.) In administering the test, Ms. McAndrews rephrased and explained some of the questions before recording Mr. Gonzales' answers. (3 RT 574, 577-578, 4 RT 611.) Ms. McAndrews did not keep notes of any of Mr. Gonzales' answers, but simply entered what she thought his responses were into the computer. (4 RT 604.) However, on the day of the testing, she made a note stating Mr. Gonzales "[c]ould not grasp concept of instructions with respect to testing." (4 RT 619.) Ms. McAndrews testified that in response to one of the questions, Mr. Gonzales indicated that between the age of 14 and 37, he had touched 16 children sexually. (3 RT 518-521, 527, 550, 4 RT 608.) Throughout the course of their therapeutic relationship, Ms. McAndrews did not see any need to disclose anything Mr. Gonzales said under the "dangerous patient" exception to the patient psychotherapist privilege, and

did not do so. (Opn. at p. 12.)

Because Mr. Gonzales' mother lived in an area that was too close to a school he could not reside with her although he was permitted to visit. (Opn. at 39.) He was required to live in a particular hotel and he befriended and began providing assistance to another resident who had a wheelchair. However, the parole officer learned of this and told them that they were in technical violation of their parole conditions because they were not supposed to associate with other offenders, and this mutually beneficial relationship was dissolved. (3 RT 445-446.)

Mr. Gonzales was also required to wear a tracking device and avoid contact with children. (Opn. at p. 3.) On his way home from therapy one afternoon, Mr. Gonzales passed by a large park the size of four football fields and stopped to roll a cigarette. (Opn. at p. 39, 4 RT 642-644.) Although there was no evidence that he stopped anywhere near a play area located within the park or that he saw any children, the parole officer felt "the entire park is considered a violation" (4 RT 644) and contacted Mr. Gonzales at his mother's residence with several officers. (Opn. at pp. 4, 39.) When they arrived there were two children playing in the driveway and Mr. Gonzales was found separated by a wooden fence about 15 to 20 feet away recycling cans. (3 RT 484, 4 RT 652.) Mr. Gonzales's sister had been evicted from her apartment with her children and had begun staying at the mother's house. (Opn. at p. 39, 5 RT 860-861, 876.) Although there was no evidence that Mr. Gonzales had any direct contact with the children, he was found to be in violation of his parole conditions and was taken into custody. (Opn. at p. 39.) Mr. Gonzales also admitted drinking beer which he was not supposed to do. (Opn. at p. 4.) The instant SVP proceedings followed.

#### REASONS REVIEW IS NOT NECESSARY

I. CONTRARY TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S
ASSERTIONS, THE COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT
CONCLUDE THAT PAROLE-MANDATED THERAPY
RECORDS ARE PRIVILEGED WITHOUT
EXCEPTION IN SVP PROCEEDINGS

In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal addressed a ruling by the trial court that although the material sought by the District Attorney's from Atkins Center was privileged, the "dangerous patient" exception to the privilege under Evidence Code section 1024 applied. (1 RT 10-11, Opn. at p. 12-13.) Contrary the Attorney General's assertions, the Court of Appeal did not conclude that such records were "privileged without exception" in SVP cases (see PFR at p. 16), but that the record in this case did not contain sufficient evidence to support the application of the "dangerous patient' exception. (Opn. at 13.) After carefully reviewing all the circumstances involved in the District Attorney's motion the Court of Appeal concluded:

In short, the record does not contain sufficient evidence to support the application of the "dangerous patient" exception. Moreover, notwithstanding a correct finding that the material sought was privileged, and the mandate to narrowly construe the "dangerous patient" exception, the court granted the district attorney blanket discovery of all records and information about defendant's therapy and implicitly authorized McAndrews to testify about everything and anything concerning the therapy, including what she and defendant said to each other during therapy as well as her advice and diagnosis. Under the circumstances, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion. (Opn. at p. 13.)

The Court of Appeal noted that on appeal the Attorney General did not challenge the trial court's finding that communications between Mr. Gonzales and Ms. McAndrews were presumptively privileged. (Opn. At p. 12, fn. 4.) The court also rejected the Attorney General's position that

despite the privilege all records are admissible in SVP proceedings stating, "the rules of evidence, including those concerning the psychotherapist-patient privilege and exceptions thereto, apply no less to SVP trials than to criminal trials." (Opn. at p. 19, citing Evid. Code § 300 [unless specified by statute, Evidence Code applies to court proceedings].)

The Attorney General relies erroneously on cases where it has been held that due to the nature of the circumstances under which treatment occurred, no privilege attached in the first place. (PFR at pp. 7-9, see *People v. Martinez* (2001) 88 Cal. App. <sup>4th</sup> 465, *People v. Lakey* (1980) 102 Cal. App. 3d. 962.) In *Martinez* and *Lakey*, records generated in the course of commitment under the former Mentally Disordered Offender (MDSO) Law were not privileged because, due to the nature of the commitment, a defendant "could not have expected his communications to be absolutely confidential or otherwise protected by the privilege." (Opn. at p. 15, citing *Martinez, supra,* 88 Cal. App., <sup>4th</sup> at 484.) The court explained that "[w]hen those treatment records are being generated, the MDSO or SVP cannot reasonably expect that their therapeutic communications will be absolutely confidential or protected by the privilege at future commitment or recommitment hearings." (Opn.at pp. 15-16.)

Here, as the trial court recognized and as the Attorney General did not dispute on appeal, the privilege did attach. (Opn. at p. 12.) In filing the motion to obtain the Atkins records, even the District Attorney recognized that "[p]ortions of these records may be protected by a right of privacy," but took the position that the initiation of SVP proceedings "obviates any existing privilege or right to privacy." (1 CT 101-102.) However, as the Court of Appeal duly noted, there is no general exception to the Evidence Code in SVP proceedings. (Opn. At p. 19.)

The fact that Mr. Gonzales was on parole at the time confidential communications were exchanged does not change the analysis. Even Ms. McAndrews described the therapeutic relationship as "one where the client and you have a relationship where you're building toward trust where you're hoping you will get accurate information. they can interact with you in a meaningful way." (3 RT 521-522.) In contrast to the defendants in *Lakey* and *Martinez*, Mr. Gonzales had not been committed as an MDSO or an SVP when the communications were generated. In fact, a jury had specifically found that he did not meet the criteria for involuntary commitment and had found the SVP petition not true. (Opn. at p. 3.)

The Attorney General describes the Court of Appeal decision as "perverse" because although an SVP defendant with therapy records from a prior, involuntary commitment would not be able to assert the privilege, an SVP defendant whose therapy records resulting from a recent mandatory treatment condition could assert the privilege and the state would be denied crucial proof that the parolee meets SVP criteria. (PFR at p. 5.) This is not a fair characterization. Under the Court of Appeal decision, the dangerous patient exception still applies to parole mandated treatment as with any treatment, and if a therapist becomes aware of information that threatens public safety, that information may be disclosed. (Opn. At pp. 12-13.) The therapist would also be free to provide information necessary to evaluate the person's compliance with parole mandated treatment. (Opn. At pp. 16-18, see *In re Pedro M*. (2000) 81 Cal. App. 4th 550, 554-555.) Ironically, the information disclosed in this case did not involve any current or future actions but pertained to alleged incidents that had occurred more than twenty years ago. The Court of Appeal decision is well-founded and review by this Court is not necessary.

## II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S APPLICATION OF THE CHAPMAN STANDARD OF PREJUDICE WAS WELL-FOUNDED.

As the Attorney General acknowledges, the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly assumed that the federal constitution protects the right privacy, including informational privacy. (Roe v. Whalen (1997) 429 U.S. 589, 599-600 and fn. 25, citing Griswold v. Connecticut (1965) 381 U.S. 479, 483, NASA v. Nelson (2001) U.S. , 131 S. Ct. 746, 178 L.Ed. 667.) However, the Attorney General claims that in Jaffe v. Redmond (1996) 518 U.S. 1, the Court recognized that the psychotherapeutic-patient privilege in federal proceedings "is not rooted in any constitutional right to privacy but in a public good that overrides the request for relevant evidence." (PFR at p. 14, quoting U.S. v. Glass (10th Cir. 1998) 133 F. 3d 1356, 1358.) Contrary to the Attorney General's assertions, the United States Supreme Court did not recognize that the privilege was not rooted in any constitutional right of privacy, because the constitutional issue was not even discussed. (See Jaffe v. Redmond, supra, 518 U.S. 1.) The High Court simply affirmed a federal appellate court decision which had held that the Federal Rules of Evidence contains a psychotherapist privilege and that it applies to social workers as well as psychiatrists. (Id. at 18, See Jaffee v. Redmond (7th Cir. 1995) 51 F.3d 1346, 1354-1355.)

In *Parle v. Runnels* (2006) 448 F. Supp. 2d 1158, 1164-1169, the court recognized that the *Chapman* standard applied in a case where a confidential patient-physician communication had been erroneously presented to the jury, and rejected the state court's conclusion that there had been no prejudice because the evidence was cumulative to evidence that had been properly admitted (see *People v. Parle*, No. H017348, slip opn.

(Cal. Ct. App. 2000) (unpublished)). The district court's decision to grant the petition for writ of habeas corpus was upheld in *Parle v. Runnells* (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007) 505 F.3d 922. The Attorney General conceded constitutional error in that case. (*Parle v. Runnels, supra*, 448 F. Supp. 2d at 1164.) It is anomalous that the Attorney General was willing to concede constitutional error in *Parle* but not here. The fact that *Parle* was a criminal case and section 6600 cases are technically civil should not affect the outcome. In *People v. Hurtado* (2002) 28 Cal. 4th 1179, 1192-1194, this Court held that the *Chapman* standard applies in section 6600 cases despite the civil nature of the commitment. The sky is not falling. As in *Parle*, the *Chapman* standard was properly applied, and review is not necessary.

## **CONCLUSION**

The Court of Appeal decision is firmly grounded on well-established principles of law. Due to reversible error, Mr. Gonzales has the right to a new SVP trial without unnecessary delay. The Attorney General has not established that review is necessary under rule 8.500. Therefore, the petition for review must be denied.